
            PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL 
 SPECIAL MEETING 
 THURSDAY, DECEMBER 22, 2011 
 PRESCOTT, ARIZONA 
 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL held on 
DECEMBER 22, 2011, IN THE LOWER LEVEL CONFERENCE ROOM located at CITY 
HALL, 201 SOUTH CORTEZ STREET, Prescott, Arizona. 
                    
  
  CALL TO ORDER  
 
 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
  ROLL CALL:   
 
  Present:      Absent: 
  

Mayor Kuykendall     None 
Councilman Arnold    
Councilman Blair    

 Councilman Carlow    
 Councilman Hanna 
 Councilman Kuknyo 
 Councilman Lamerson  
 
I. DISCUSSION ITEM 
 
 A. Discussion with members of the District 1 State Legislative Delegation re 

the 2012 legislative session and potential issues. 
 
  Mayor Kuykendall welcomed everyone and introduced President of the 

Senate, Senator Steve Pierce, Speaker of the House, Representative 
Andy Tobin, Representative Karen Fann, and Senator Linda Gray of 
District 10. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall also welcomed Councilman Tenney of Chino Valley. He 

said that they had developed some bullet points to talk about, and to keep 
them in order he would ask Mr. McConnell to lead the discussions. 

 
1. Redistricting 

 
  Mr. McConnell said that there were some maps recently approved and the 

good news was that in the last minute approval they reunited northwest 
Yavapai County with the rest of the county. He said that the panel still has 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 2 
 

to vote on the map, but assuming the maps do not change again before 
the final vote it may be appropriate for Council to support the inclusion. 

 
  Representative Tobin said that if the Council thought it was a good idea to 

endorse any action of the IRC (Independent Redistricting Commission) he 
thought it was a big mistake. Whether they were in a safe map or not they 
would always represent the City, but the Commission had destroyed the 
ability for rural Arizona to be represented. 

 
  He said that the entire process has been stolen and the Supreme Court 

had no right to interfere with Prop 106 and the Governor’s decision to 
remove a Chairman. He said that it was a Constitutional crisis in the 
making. To have the Superior Court say they have no Open Meeting Law 
requirements throws in the face of what the voters wanted to do with an 
Independent Redistricting Process. He said that the chairwoman is 
nothing but partisan, and there was no independent representation. 

 
  He said that for the Council to approve or support this would justify what 

has been going on down there. He said that the minority party has found a 
way to win seats in policy from the IRC because they cannot win it at the 
ballot box. His recommendation was to stay away from endorsing such 
action. 

 
  Senator Pierce said that Speaker Tobin was right; it was the most partisan 

group and they thought they were untouchable. He said that the whole 
reason for it is that Flagstaff worked hard to get their district away from the 
tribes. He said that 30% of their economy is with the tribes but they 
lobbied and set up camp at the meetings, and eventually got what they 
were there to do. 

 
  He said that district caused all of their problems and they should be suing. 

They have enough to be a district of their own but they were chopping 
them up because they were too strong and too strong of a Republican 
stronghold. He said that it was a bad deal and the City should not endorse 
anything they have done. They did nothing to help rural Arizona. 

 
  Representative Fann said that she did agree with Mr. McConnell in the 

sense that she was glad they were able to get the three of them and 
northern Yavapai County together, but it was not so good that they split up 
Yavapai County. She said that all of the things they have been working on 
with water in east and west Yavapai County will once again be divided 
because they will not have common representation. She said that 
someone from Flagstaff would probably be elected to represent the Verde 
Valley and they will not understand the water issues of the Big Chino and 
Verde River. 

 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 3 
 
  She said that in the eleventh hour shuffle on Monday they took 

Wickenburg and Morristown away and gave them Anthem, Desert Hills, 
Cave Creek and Carefree. While Cave Creek and Carefree are somewhat 
rural, Anthem is not. Looking at the amount of homes in that area it is 
foreseeable that in the future those in western Yavapai County are going 
to have representatives from Maricopa County. 

 
  Representative Fann said that if the City wanted to write a letter, she 

would encourage support for a letter she recently sent regarding the 
numbering system for the maps. She asked that they revisit the numbering 
system and asked that Yavapai County be returned to District 1 due to the 
history of Prescott and Chino Valley being the first Territorial Capital. 

 
2. Public Employment Retirement System 

 
  Mr. McConnell said that this was an opportunity to bring to the 

delegation’s attention some real numbers (third sheet of handout). In the 
upcoming fiscal year the City will have to contribute 41.18% of the rate for 
police and 33.9% for fire, which for 125 employees is a $2.8 million 
expense. The annual average cost per employee for the City’s portion is 
$22,688.  

 
  He said that with those types of expenses, they are at a point of asking 

whether they have to lay people off in order to pay the pension. 
 
  Speaker Tobin said that they actually did some retirement reform. They 

set up new formulas for the cost of living. They are trying to make sure the 
funds are protected, now based on the health of the plan rather than 
whether the numbers go up. They did increase the contributions on the 
plans as well. They changed the drop system and phased it out and with 
new retirees coming in they will be paying more as a percentage.  

 
  The City’s increases are reflecting that the plans were having trouble and 

went unattended to for a decade or more. As they were improving more 
benefits were going out the door. When it comes down to police and fire 
and the difference between the pension plans it represents the reason 
why public safety is a different one than the ASRS. He said that they do 
not want someone 65 years old answering a 9-1-1 call. On the other hand 
they can only afford to pay what they can. 

 
  He said that they were all voting on the new retirement package and it did 

not come without a lot of political stress. He thanked him for the 
information and he would pass it on. 

 
 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 4 
 
  President Pierce said that they met a lot on this issue. They did not do as 

much as they needed to and there will be more done. It was a big hit to 
everyone, but they want to be fair to everyone there and those that have 
already retired. 

 
  Senator Gray said that she serves on the study committee set up through 

1609 and they have been meeting consistently with a number of people 
involved in the retirement system. One of the issues that almost came up 
for a vote at the last meeting was whether to allocate the $100,000 to hire 
another actuary to go in and look at different funds. It was her 
understanding that every two to three years they have an independent 
actuary come in and do a revision and they have found no problems with 
what the first study did so they tabled that. 

 
  She said that one of the issues still on the table is the spiking issue where 

in the last years of retirement, they have seen a difference between public 
safety versus state retirements, etc. There is a 24% spiking increase in 
those last few years. They have to take care of that problem in 1609 
where instead of the salary being adjusted for the last three years it is now 
over a five-year period. For state employees they only saw a 12% 
increase. 

 
  Senator Gray said that there was a recommendation that all of the public 

safety employees go into one fund, but when they have benefits in the 
public safety communities, to combine all of them would not be fair, so 
they decided to keep those separate, although it has not yet been voted 
on. 

 
  Speaker Tobin said that another retirement system is the Elected Officials’ 

Retirement Plan. They also made sure that elected officials will contribute 
more, and the judges will be suing them on that one. They were not very 
happy with it. They are expected to be sued on some of the public safety 
issues as well. 

 
  3. State-shared Revenue 
 
  Mr. McConnell reviewed the impact of this, noting that in a tourism 

community a $13 surcharge on top of the regular parking ticket makes it 
difficult for them.  

 
  Mayor Kuykendall said that the City raised their rates to $20 for overtime 

parking and then they got hit with the $13 on top of that. This makes it 
difficult for the downtown merchants. 

 
  Speaker Tobin said that many of them hated that, but the money went to 

law enforcement. Mayor Kuykendall asked if there was any intent to revisit 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 5 
 

this issue and exclude certain charges. Speaker Tobin said that he did not 
believe it was meant to be long term and they would probably see 
members trying to fix things. 

 
  President Pierce said that he had not heard anything about it being 

revisited, but he did not like it. He said that they had a Sheriff say they had 
a terrible immigration problem and needed a helicopter, but now they have 
no money to operate it. He said that he thought it was wrong, but perhaps 
they would want to bring it to the League to see if they could repeal it in 
rural Arizona. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall said that he did not think they had a problem with it in 

criminal areas, but it did create problems with parking tickets. Councilman 
Kuknyo said that he understood what they were trying to provide, but 
asked why they were given direction on what the City’s $4 coming back to 
them could be spent on. He asked if it would not be best to let the cities 
decide where their money goes. 

 
4. Funding of DPS from HURF 
 

  Mr. McConnell said that Prescott staff recently had a meeting with DPS 
and they said they will no longer enforce the traffic code on state highways 
within municipalities, and would not respond to accidents on state 
highways within municipalities. He said that if cities were paying a cut from 
what would otherwise be their fuel tax for DPS and they were not 
providing a service, there was a disconnect. 

 
  Representative Fann said, in referring back to No. 3, that no matter how 

much they did not like this, part of the strategy was that if those revenues 
were going to DPS perhaps they would not have to sweep the HURF 
funds. She said that the latest polls from Arizona voters say they were 
78% against raising sales tax on fuel, but they do support toll roads. They 
said that they would support other sources of revenue, but not a tax 
increase.  

 
  She said that they have righted the ship and the state is back in the black. 

It looks like they would not have to do any sweeps and hopefully next year 
they will be more financially sound and not having to do such silly things. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall asked if that was an internal DPS decision that they 

could make on their own. Representative Fann said that this was the first 
she had heard of this decision of DPS. She said she was not the Attorney 
General, but she would think they do not have the authority to make such 
a decision. 

 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 6 
 
  Speaker Tobin said that they should ask this of the DPS Director as this 

was the first he had heard of it as well. It was suggested that they also 
speak to the Governor. 

 
  5. Solid Waste Collection 
 
  Councilman Kuknyo declared a conflict of interest and removed himself 

from discussions of this item. 
 
  Mr. McConnell said that this was mostly for informational purposes. The 

City’s understanding was that the Legislature was not proposing any solid 
waste legislation for the upcoming year. If that was the case there was not 
a lot to talk about, but they wanted to share information about the City’s 
solid waste program. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall said that they would ask that if any members of the 

delegation saw something coming in the way of new legislation that they 
let the City know. 

 
  6. Siphoning of Local Sales Tax Revenue 
 
  Mr. McConnell said that the first point to be made was on the minds of 

some of the Council present, and that was the ever-increasing number of 
nonprofits being established and their avoidance of taxes. He said that the 
City has two primary resources for revenues; one is intergovernmental 
revenues and the other is sales tax. When there is a proliferation of tax-
exempt transactions, it impacts the City. He said that he was not sure 
what they could do but it related to the Model City Tax Code and 
accounting/financial issues. 

 
  He said that the second item had to do with internet purchases. If the 

federal government acts, hopefully the state could then take that guidance 
and the public could be provided a uniform, coherent tax code as it relates 
to the internet. 

 
  President Pierce said that was a topic they would be talking about. He 

noted that there was a line on the income tax form and he is probably one 
of the few that has reported purchases made over the internet. 

 
  Representative Fann asked, in response to the first item re nonprofits, if 

there was any particular type of nonprofits they were seeing that were 
being created to avoid taxes. She asked if the City received any property 
taxes from those nonprofits such as churches that own their own buildings 
and pay property taxes. 

 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 7 
 
  Mr. McConnell said that property taxes for nonprofits are consistent with 

the sales tax of nonprofits, and additionally, the City’s property tax level is 
very low. He explained that a number of years ago the City reduced its tax 
rate, but then it became locked in at the lower amount. Last year had the 
City increased its property tax to the highest amount allowed, it would 
have only amounted to another $80,000 in revenues. He said that this was 
another matter that requires a lot of oversight. 

 
  Councilman Blair said that the latest he has heard is of a nonprofit grocery 

store. When they start talking about that type of use, under the umbrella of 
a nonprofit, it takes away from the other businesses and shrinks the City’s 
revenues even further. He said that every time they take a hit from a 
nonprofit opening up under the guise of “feeling good,” the City is “feeling 
bad.” They need to change something. 

 
  Councilman Hanna said that he agreed that too many of the nonprofits are 

becoming direct competition with sales-tax based businesses and it hurts 
them in two spots. 

 
  7. Public Records Requests (PRR) 
 
  Mr. McConnell said that this was a very sensitive topic and a balance 

between the public’s right to know and access, and the tremendous 
disruption occurring by blanket PRR. He said that the charges that the City 
are authorized to collect in no way recover the costs of the voluminous 
requests with locating them, gathering, and many times having to have the 
City Attorney’s Office review, etc. He said that they put this on the list and 
suggesting that at some point the PRR statutes need to be tuned up to 
recognize some of the reality of what was going on. 

 
  Speaker Tobin said that he agreed. He has reached the point where he 

does not respond back on e-mails and does not have it on the Blackberry. 
He said that his staff cannot keep up with the requests. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall said that perhaps they could be allowed to recover the 

costs of labor involved in responding. He said that the City has one 
individual that requires a great deal of staff time. Councilman Hanna said 
that they need to look at the word “reasonable.” 

 
  8. Consumer Fireworks 
 
  Mr. McConnell said that both the state and the City can regulate the use, 

but not the sales. They need to tweak the law so that local government 
can regulate both, particularly in an area like Prescott. Councilman Hanna 
questioned why they should see something that cannot be used. 

   



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 8 
 
  Representative Fann said that she just met with representatives from 

Coconino County last week and they were very concerned about this as 
well. She said that the other issue they raised was the flooding that is 
going on because of the big fires. She was opening up a few files and will 
be working on possible language to prevent sales in Yavapai and 
Coconino County. 

 
  Councilman Hanna said that it was not just the amount of sales tax but 

they needed to look at the difference between lost sales tax generated 
and the cost of one fire in the State. Speaker Tobin agreed. 

 
  9. Mandated Contracting Out of Municipal Services 
 
  Mr. McConnell said that this past session the legislation was proposed 

that would have required municipalities to analyze many if not most 
governmental services. It would create a new bureaucracy and they would 
have people doing nothing but doing studies and analyses. He said that 
they only have so much money and what would suffer are services. He 
said that 68% of the City’s general fund is public safety. He said that he 
did not know if it worked in Pima County, but it definitely would not work in 
Prescott. He strongly urged the members to oppose any such bill. 

 
  Speaker Tobin said that a community the size of Prescott was carved out 

of the proposed legislation. Mr. Brehm said that it was last year but 
Senator Antenori (who sponsored it) said that he wanted to reduce the 
limitation in the future so it would apply to smaller cities and towns. 

 
  Councilman Arnold thanked everyone for attending, and said he 

appreciated staff putting it together. He said that he thought they would 
see Prescott taking a more active role with the League in the coming year. 
He said that the biggest concern is being kept in the loop when there were 
bills coming down that were going to affect their ability to operate. 

 
  Councilman Blair said that the number one issue for him is dollars and 

cents. They are taking a hit on public safety through sales tax, nonprofits, 
internet, etc. He said that they do not have the ability like the Central 
Yavapai Fire District to get the job done through a property tax. They have 
to meet it through the sales tax. He said that they need flexibility through 
the Model City Tax Code to do different things to raise revenues, and he 
would like them to look at the nonprofits and how they were functioning. 

 
  Councilman Carlow asked that they try and keep as much local control 

with monies that were coming in. He also asked for clarification on 
whether it had been determined that cities could delay collection of the 
impact fees until a house was sold. Mr. McConnell said that he believed it 
was a provision of law if there was a development agreement there could 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 9 
 

be a deferred payment to the time of occupancy rather than when the 
permit was pulled.  

 
  Councilman Hanna thanked the members for coming up. He said that it 

was the best part of living in rural Arizona that they know their 
representatives. He said that he did not think they needed to support the 
IRC at all. He said that he also agreed with Councilman Blair regarding 
nonprofits. 

 
  Councilman Lamerson also thanked them for coming. He said that it was 

evident that it was a blatant attempt by the IRC to disrupt the political 
evolution of Yavapai County to have any influence, and he found it 
appalling. He also found it appalling that an agency such as DPS would 
have such comments to rural Arizona that they were going to choose to 
not do their job.  

 
  Mayor Kuykendall also thanked the members for attending. He reminded 

everyone of the issue regarding the state retirement systems and asked 
how the state justifies two very different retirement systems. 

 
  President Piece said that there was another as well, that of the 

correctional officers, and they got paid more because it is harder to keep 
them on the job. He said that the meetings he attended had all of the 
unions represented. He said that there needs to be more done and it was 
a huge issue for everyone. He said that it was a shame that there was not 
one system, but it happened a long time ago and it would never happen 
now. 

 
  Senator Gray said that it had a lot to do with the cost of the employee. She 

said that public safety is higher than the general state employees and 
there are a lot more in the state system than in the public safety. She said 
that there were better benefits for public safety because of the unions. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall said that Arizona was a right to work state and that 

should level the playing field to some extent. Senator Gray said that there 
was a request asking the legislature that when someone goes to drop, 
they would have to pay into the retirement system. Now they were asking 
that once they were finished they get that money back out. To her, putting 
it back in the system helps support the fund and keeps it stable. She did 
not support that request. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall said that it looks like they were supporting the fund by 

the municipalities. He said that they were at a point where they were 
spending 100% of sales tax to support public safety, but when they start 
cutting and there were fewer people on the streets there would be a public 
outcry. He said that they need to get realistic. 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 10 
 
 
 
  Representative Tobin said that in the past they had a Governor who 

decided they were going spend more than they had. He was trying to look 
forward, but no one would be able to deny that there have been the 
largest reforms to pension systems than they had ever seen. He said that 
the Governor had announced some contributions back to tourism. He said 
that they did not see an effort of them to cut that, but they did spend all 
summer to develop a Tourism Authority that could have some impact on 
improving those issues. 

 
  They saw a jail shift last year included in the budget that was crisis driven 

from the start that did not come from them, but they worked all summer 
lobbying against it. He said that they heard the City and knew where they 
were coming from. 

 
  He said that when Senator Pierce first went down, within 30 days, they 

had new, young, fresh blood having budgets thrown at them being told 
they had to cut $1 billion. The cash was gone and yet most did not see 
that happening. They know that those do not come without a price tag and 
political issues for them at election time, and yet in theory they have a 
carry forward that is about $400 million. They made mistakes along the 
way, e.g. ADWR. 

 
  He said that as much as it has been painful, they do not want to go 

backwards; they want to walk through this with their partners 
(municipalities). The sales tax goes away in 2013. That was why they 
made corrections to the pension systems because they new they needed 
help. 

 
  Speaker Tobin said that it was an honor to be serving the people of the 

County. He said that they have a lot of new and bright, very courageous 
people at the capitol and there was a change in the wind. He thanked 
them for their support and constant communication. 

 
  Mayor Kuykendall asked what their advice would be to the City as they 

move forward through redistricting. Speaker Tobin said that he believed 
there would be legal action; he thought it was in the process. He said that 
they need to be prepared to run in the districts they have been assigned 
to, but things could change. 

 
  Representative Fann said that she would hope that, for the sake of 

Yavapai County, regardless of political parties, views, etc. that everyone 
stick together in the region. If they were going to attack each other and 
end up in the future having other counties representing them it will be half 
their fault. They need to support each other as communities. 



Prescott City Council Special 
Meeting– December 22, 2011                                          Page 11 
 
 
 
  Representative Fann said that on behalf of all of them they really 

appreciated Joe Brehm and he had done a great job. She said that he 
talked with them frequently and they have a great line of communication 
going. 

 
II. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 There being no further business to be discussed, the Special Meeting of the 

Prescott City Council held on December 22, 2011, adjourned at 11:10 a.m. 
 
 
 
 

________________________________  
MARLIN KUYKENDALL, Mayor 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
______________________________   
ELIZABETH A. BURKE, City Clerk                       
 
 
 
 


	            PRESCOTT CITY COUNCIL

